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INTRODUCTION

For generations, people of good will and faith have undertaken the
important apostolate of caring for the sick. The compassion, concern
and care extended to those afflicted with sickness and suffering are
considered by the Catholic Church to be works of charity and mercy,
integral parts of its mission.

Among the various ways of caring for the sick, the Catholic Church has
established health care facilities, as a sign of hope and a living witness
to the presence and power of a healing God. These facilities continue in
our own day to follow a “tradition of excellence, dedicated service and
unselfish caring”' throughout Canada. They are an integral part of
Canada’s health care system, instrumental in providing both leadership
and service, as well as accessible and quality health care to all citizens.?

The purpose of this booklet is to trace the development of Catholic
health care facilities and in particular those in the Province of New
Brunswick. These facilities came about in response to various needs and
situations, among them, the care of victims of epidemics and concern for
immigrants. Part One of this work will examine the early development
of health care facilities. It will provide a synopsis of its pre-biblical
roots, followed by a scriptural reflection on sickness and suffering in
both the Old and New Testaments. From its early beginnings of extend-
ing hospitality and assisting pilgrims and travellers, facilities during
Apostolic times and in the early Church laid the foundations for further
development of the health care apostolate. This will be followed by an
overview of the growth of such facilities between the sixth and seven-
teenth centuries.

The development of Catholic health care facilities in Canada will form
the basis of Part Two. By examining the early years of the Church’s
involvement in health care, especially the contributions made by various
religious institutes, an appreciation will be gained for the vital role the
Church has played in the overall development of health care facilities in
all regions of the country.

Finally, Part Three will deal specifically with health care in the Province
of New Brunswick and the development of Catholic health care facilities



therein. Especially important will be the significant role played and the
substantial contributions made by the religious institutes in response to
exercising this essential work of caring for the sick throughout the
province.

. EARLY DEVELOPMENT OF HEALTH CARE

A. Pre-Biblical Roots

Common to peoples of all ages and societies is the importance given to
the physical and mental well-being of the human person. Society has
gone to great measures to treat and prevent illnesses of all types and
control the spread of disease. With the use of various medicines and
practices, humanity has responded remarkably well in the pursuit of the
noble and lofty calling to provide care to the sick, the suffering and the
dying. It could probably be said that almost every grouping of people
has built and dedicated special facilities of one kind or another for the
sole purpose of providing health care.

The care of the sick, the prevention of disease, the comforting of the
suffering and the consolation of the dying have caught the fascination
and imagination of each generation and at the same time presented a
challenge. Long before the birth of Christ, the ancient peoples of the Far
East — in Ceylon (now Sri Lanka) and India at the time of Buddha — had
facilities set apart for the caring and treating of sickness. They mani-
fested essential characteristics in the provision of care, characteristics
still in operation today. These early facilities stressed the impor-
tance of hygiene, dietary practices and treating the patient with kindness
and respect.’

Throughout the Greek* and Roman Empires,® temples built to the gods
of health were a common occurrence. Facilities to treat the sick were
usually associated with these places of devotion and pilgrimage. Impor-
tant in the Greek culture and society of the time was the impressive and
monumental temple to Aesculapius, the Roman god of medicine, identi-
fied with the Greek god Asclepius, a place where many sought healing.®

Care and prevention of sickness were found not only in the ancient



Greek and Roman empires. The healing arts, now known as medicine,
were also practised in the ancient cultures of Egypt, Babylonia and
China.” Through the use of various remedies, natural products and
practices, such as herbs, needles, and acupuncture, the sick received
treatment for their ailments. Modern health care methods and practices
owe a great deal to the ancient cultures in developing the quality health
care we are accustomed to today. Present even in modern medicine are
the symbols of ancient medical practices, especially the taking of the
Hippocratic oath and continued use of the caduceus, the age-old symbol
of the physician.?

B. Scriptural Reflections on Sickness and Health

Judeo-Christian literature abounds with stories of life, sickness, healing,
and death. Through their reflection on these various themes, the Jewish
and Christian faith traditions have responded in the face of illness by
extending care, concern, compassion and relief to those aftlicted. In
scriptural times, fever, leprosy, paralysis, dumbness, atrophy, haemor-
rhage, deafness and speech impediments, blindness, epilepsy, infirmity,

dropsy, and a severed ear were some of the illnesses afflicting humanity.’

From the very first pages of the Old Testament a vision of serenity,
peace and harmony is portrayed. Health and happiness are the order of
the day. All is good — all is very good. However, humanity’s disobedi-
ence very quickly shatters that relationship with the Creator. Because of
that disobedience, sickness, suffering and death become a part of the
landscape. Nevertheless, God remains constantly faithful, earnestly
wanting the restoration of harmony in creation. Despite humanity’s
unfaithfulness, God enters into a covenant relationship with His crea-
tures beginning with Abraham and Sarah and their descendants.'

The biblical themes of life, sickness, suffering and death are taken up
again in the Book of Exodus. There God is portrayed as the Ever-
Faithful One, the One who promises freedom from slavery, bondage and
oppression. Under the capable leadership of Moses, Israel journeys to
the land of milk and honey. This central event in the life of Israel contin-
ued to show forth God’s constant desire to restore health and life in the
face of misery.!!



Belief'in life is reaffirmed in Deuteronomy. A challenge is issued to
Israel to make a choice, a choice between life and death.'> Again God is
portrayed as the God of the living, not of the dead. God is the One who
restores to health and prosperity. In this promised new kingdom, the new
creation, humanity will be freed from sin, sickness, suffering, and most
of all, from death."

The hymns of Israel contained in the Book of Psalms sing about the
human experiences the people encounter. Loss of life is seen as a cause
for lamentation, as a punishment for unfaithfulness to the covenant. On
the other hand, restoration to health is a time for praise and thanksgiv-
ing, a time of confidence in future deliverance and healing.'*

Finally, in the Old Testament literature, the writings of the prophets,
especially Ezekiel and Isaiah deal with the themes of sickness and
healing. The outstanding image used by the prophet Ezekiel is the
flowing stream of life-giving water.!® In his writings, the prophet Isaiah
concentrates on the Suffering Servant theme. The Suffering Servant of
Yahweh is portrayed as the powerful witness of God’s covenant, of
God’s loving and life-giving relationship with His people. Through his
suffering, through his wounds, we are healed.'®

The Old Testament can be summed up in one word, the ancient Hebrew
word Yeshe, meaning salvation. This one word portrays a new image of
God, as the God who is the giver of life and health, the restorer of the
work of creation. “According to the Bible, salvation is a moment of total
healing where sin and suffering are taken away by God’s health giving
power for those who follow His word.”"’

The New Testament gives great prominence to Jesus’ ministry of heal-
ing. The literature abounds with breathtaking examples and stories of
care and compassion, and restoration to health of those afflicted with
sickness of one kind or another. The sensitivity, concern, and tenderness
of Jesus toward the sick and suffering remain steadfast as witnessing to
the healing presence of God. The New Testament scriptures portray
Jesus not only as a great teacher, but also as a healer, as the Divine
Physician. He put into action what he preached, he reached out and in
solidarity he touched, he restored human dignity, he gave health and life
to those he encountered at a vulnerable, crisis time in their lives.



Jesus viewed sickness and suffering as an evil, as a consequence of the
broken relationship between Creator and creature, a turning away from
God, a sign of Satan’s dominion over humanity.'® However, throughout
his many encounters, Jesus felt pity and compassion for the weak and
fragile in society. He took affirmative action in the face of sickness and
suffering and was able to bring to a moment of doubt and darkness, the
presence and power of a healing God. Sickness, suffering and death
could be overcome and Jesus brought about that belief, that possibility.
He showed that he not only had power over sin, but that he also had
power over sickness.!? In Jesus, good would triumph over evil, life
would triumph over death. The healing power expressed and displayed
in Jesus was the powerful sign of the beginnings of the kingdom of
God.? In and through Jesus, God touched and transformed sickness
which was given a new and much deeper meaning. Sickness, suffering
and death were to be of redemptive value for humanity.!

L. Dufour states in his writing on this biblical notion that “sickness is a
symbol of the state in which sinful man finds himself; spiritually he is
blind, deaf, paralyzed. The cure of the sick man is, therefore, also a
symbol. It represents the spiritual cure that Jesus came to work in
men.”?

The ministry and example of Jesus is the sacrament, the sign of God’s
healing power. Jesus is the one who takes on suffering and transforms it,
he gives suffering value and restores the person to harmony with the
Creator.”



C. Apostolic Times and the Early Church

The apostles were bestowed with the authority to carry on the mission of
Jesus. They were made sharers in the work of healing. They continued to
be the signs and witnesses of God’s powerful presence in the world.?*
Wherever they went, the teaching and spreading of the gospel was
always accompanied by concrete expressions of concern and care,
especially toward those afflicted with illness.? The most powerful
testimonies of the healing ministry of the apostles are attested to in the
Acts of the Apostles.? Saint Paul in his writings speaks especially of the
gift of healing,?” a gift given for the building up of the community — the
Church. From the time of the apostles, the healing apostolate has been
an integral and essential component of the Church’s mission. This
apostolate has been exercised and concretized in three basic ways down
through the ages:

 miraculous cures;
 prayer, anointing with oil, laying on of hands; and

* through the visible expression and witness given by the
founding ofhealth care facilities.

F. Cleary notes in his study on health care and the Church that, “Christi-
anity is unique for institutionalizing (health care) and making it serve as
a formally religious witness to the world. Nowhere else was care for the
sick so widespread, so well-organized, and so self-sacrificing.”” What
we have come to appreciate and expect from modern health care is
firmly rooted in the very beginnings of Christianity and the ministry of
the first apostles.®

Following the passing of the last apostle, the early Church continued the
ministry of caring for the sick. Hippolytus, writing in the second cen-
tury, portrayed Christians as concerned and caring for the sick in
carrying on the healing work of the apostles.?! The Apostolic Constitu-
tions, the earliest liturgical record of the Church, provided for the
installation of exorcist and healer in the Christian community.*? Also
included in the liturgical practice of the time was the prayer for the
power of healing at the ordination of a priest.’ Julian the Apostate,
writing in the fourth century remarked, “Now we see what makes
Christians such powerful enemies of our gods. It is the brotherly love
that they manifest toward strangers and toward the sick and the poor.”*



The origins of health care facilities are deeply rooted in the Christian
virtue of hospitality. The etymology of the word “hospitality” comes
from its Latin roots “hospe”, meaning host. From early times, hospices
have provided care and comfort to the traveller, help to the poor and
needy, solace and concern for those afflicted with sickness, assistance to
the elderly, homes for the orphans, the abandoned, and the widow.*
Another factor in the promotion of the virtue of hospitality and the care
of the sick was the development of the order of deacon® in the Church.
The diakonia would provide hospitality [ hospitalitas] to those needing
it. This ministry of service could be exercised in various ways. However,
four stand out in the development of the health care apostolate in the
Church:¥

 establishment of inns for travellers (xendochia);

establishment of infirmaries (nosocomia),

establishment of foundling homes (brephotrophia),

establishment of homes for the aged (gerocomia).®®

J. Casey, in her book on the theological reflections of the health care
apostolate, states that “each of these involved a concern for health, but
the inns for travellers and the infirmaries were the forerunners of sys-
tematic health care. The most important function of the inns was to
shelter the sick.”’ These facilities for caring for the sick and offering
assistance quickly gained prominence in the Church. In 335 A.D., a
Decree of the Emperor Constantine ordered the systematic establishment
of health care facilities at Rome, Constantinople and Ephesus and in
other parts of the Empire.*

By the latter part of the fourth century, 370 A.D., St. Basil the Great
had founded a large facility near Caesarea in Cappadocia. This became
the model for the Christian hospital. Gregory of Nazianzus referred to
this institution as a place where illness becomes a school of wisdom,
where disease is regarded in a religious light, where misery is changed to
happiness, and where Christian charity shows its most striking proof.*!



D. Post-Apostolic Times

1. Sixth to Eighth Centuries

For the most part during the period of the VIth and VIIIth centuries,
health care facilities were closely aligned to the local cathedral or
monastery. The main emphasis of the time was placed on the spiritual
well-being of the sick and their physical state. During this period the
great health care institutions such as Hotel-Dieu in Lyons (542) and
Hotel-Dieu in Paris (660) were established. As the different facilities
expanded throughout the continent, usually under the direction and
vigilance of the local bishop, the need for specific juridical regulations
became necessary, especially in regards to their organization.

2. Ninth Century

The ninth century could be described as the age of monastic medicine.
With the continued interest and flourishing of monastic life, the virtue of
hospitality quickly became one of the common features of monastic
tradition. With the virtue of hospitality came the interest in the practice
of medicine by the monks and their association with it. At times during
this period they would have been among the very few individuals consid-
ered qualified to provide the necessary treatment for illnesses.

Monks, especially the Benedictines, very rapidly became influential in
the science of medicine and its sub-branches.* The monastery became
the basic health care facility** due to three factors. First, the monastery
usually had an infirmitorium, where the sick could receive proper and
adequate treatment for their affliction. Second, besides the

infirmitorium, the monastery would have a pharmacy or dispensary
where the necessary medications used in the treatment of illness were
readily available. Finally, the monastery garden not only produced the
required foods for the monks and visitors, but produced the various
kinds of herbs used in the preparation of medications. During the ninth
century the monastery functioned as one of the earliest facilities devoted
not only to hospitality but to the integral work of caring for the sick. The
monastery and its facilities soon became a virtual monopoly as far as the
practice of medicine was concerned.*

3. Middle Ages
The Middle Ages, perhaps more than any other period, influenced the
religiosity of the health care apostolate. The first predominant factor



during this time was the rise of the Crusades. With the Crusades a new
personality in health care came forward — the military orders.* The
Knights Hospitallers of St. John, also known as the Order of Malta,
soon became the most visible of these orders and by 1099 had founded a
large hospital in Jerusalem to care for the sick, the injured and the dying
— all the results of the Crusades. Today this order still plays a signifi-
cant role in health care. A spin off in some parts of the world is the St.
John Ambulance Corps. Other military orders were also instrumental
in providing care and treatment for the sick, orders such as the Teutonic
Knights and the Hospitallers of St. Lazarus. However, with the passage
of time the Teutonic Knights faded into the books of history while the
Hospitallers of St. Lazarus continue to this very day.*

The second significant factor in health care during this time was the
continuing growth of health care facilities themselves, especially hospi-
tals. With that growth came the need for more rules and regulations.
Inevitably, the canonical regulations exerted influence on the health care
facilities associated with the Church at this time.*’

The third factor in the development of Catholic health care was the rise
of the hospital guilds, “organized confraternities of laymen, usually
living under a religious rule who dedicated themselves to the care of the
sick.” *8 The establishment of these guilds gave impetus to the emer-
gence of a new branch of law, hospital law. The hospital soon became
regulated by the canon law of the period, especially in regards to the
administration of ecclesiastical property, the appointment of hospital
chaplains, and the rise of new religious communities.

Health care and the way it was delivered in the thirteenth century under-
went drastic changes. The canon law of the period prohibited clerics and
monks from practising medicine in an active way. Though care of the
sick continued to be a work of charity, the actual practice of medical
science was gradually transferred to the secular domain. Three main
factors lead to this prohibition:

* the practice of medicine was widely perceived as a business;

* the motive behind the delivery of health care appeared to be
greed rather than charity;

 certain moral issues and medical practices and procedures came into
conflict with Church teaching;



* the ministry of healing came to be perceived as irrelevant and con-
trary to both monastic and clerical life at the time.*

With the closing of the Middle Ages, the health care apostolate in the
Church experienced a set back or period of demise. It would take some
two hundred years, together with new and dynamic approaches, to instill
new life into an age-old essential work of the Church.

4. Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries

Indeed, with the dawning of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, the
health care apostolate in the Church experienced a renewed interest.
New religious institutes, especially of women, included health care
among their proper works. By doing this, a new dimension was given to
this work of charity and mercy.® F. Cleary writes:

Religious women, however, were not drawn to the practice of
medicine as physicians, but in response to a perceived lack of
humane and Christian treatment of patients, especially the poor,
neglected, and abandoned. !

Unlike in the late Middle Ages, the involvement of the Church was
redirected to the care of the sick, to compassion, and to the manner of
treating the ill. These were to be the overall essentials governing the
health care facility in this new period.>?> With the revival of religious
life, a new age dawned in the way care was perceived and carried out.

The Sisters saw their ministry as worthy of formally Christian

witness for two reasons. They brought a Christian presence to the
experience of illness and disability in response to the example and
command of the Lord they had vowed to serve. They also sought to treat
all patients equally, regardless of social and economic status, and thus
proclaimed God’s universal salvific will and special love for the ne-
glected and powerless.>

Thus, this period ended on a note of optimism. The stage was being set
for new discoveries in a new land and with this would come the revitali-
zation of the Church’s involvement in the health care apostolate. Central
to this would be the founding of new religious institutes for the sole
purpose of providing care and treatment to the sick, the injured and the
dying. These integral works would now have an opportunity to flourish
to great heights and the foundations were laid for a health care system
which still exists to this very day.



. DEVELOPMENT OF THE CATHOLIC HEALTH CARE
APOSTOLATE IN CANADA

Health care and the Catholic Church in Canada have had a long associa-
tion, going back to the very beginnings of the nation itself.** Braving the
uncharted waters of the Atlantic, early adventurers and settlers etched
out for themselves and their descendants a new world. Not long after
reaching the shores of this New World, it became evident that some form
of providing care for the sick and the injured was required, both for
settlers and native peoples alike. Other factors soon came to the fore-
front in establishing facilities to treat the sick, factors such as the
conversion of the native people to the faith, the care of the colonists and
the injured soldiers, and the control of diseases such as smallpox and
fever.”

With the dawning of the seventeenth century came a new religious
awakening. Great reformers like Theresa of Avila, Ignatius Loyola,
Francis de Sales, Vincent de Paul, Camille de Lellis and countless others
instilled new hope, new vigour and a promising future for the Church.*
During this period, there existed a mood of excitement and enthusiasm
concerning the discoveries being made in the New World. Those seeking
to engage in heroic challenges and new possibilities for God and country
hurried off to travel across the ocean. A new sense of optimism existed
in the hearts and minds of these early adventurers — would it be possible
to have a Catholic land on the other side of the Atlantic?*’

From its modest beginnings, the health care apostolate has planted deep
roots and become ingrained in the very fabric of Canadian life. History
has witnessed the expansion and flourishing of health care facilities, thus
laying a solid foundation for the highly technical and complex system
now experienced in health care delivery today. Historical accounts show
that the earliest hospital facility in America was apparently founded in
1503 at Santo Domingo. A second such facility, Immaculate Conception
Hospital in Mexico City was founded by Cortez in 15248

The first step taken toward establishing any semblance of health care
facilities in Canada goes back to the year 1625. Arriving at Quebec
City, Jesuit missionaries embarked on a mission of evangelization of the



native peoples of the New World, especially the Hurons. By 1634
enough advancement had been achieved to allow Jean de Brébeuf and
his companions to journey westward into what is now Ontario. In 1639
the small missionary band could establish the thriving mission station of
Ste-Marie des Hurons (near present-day Midland, Ont). This quickly
became the home base and centre of operations for further Jesuit mis-
sionary endeavours. At Ste-Marie, basic educational skills along with
forms of social assistance were provided. Essential to these early mis-
sion stations was the school, where tenets of the faith could be transmit-
ted. Evidence exists to attest that a facility providing care and treatment
for the sick was attached to the school. The Jesuit Relations state that:

in 1640 the major buildings of the European type were begun.
By 1642 the Church, dedicated to St. Joseph, and the hospital
had been constructed outside the area built by the Father [...].
The hospital itself was 44 feet long and 40 feet wide with a
small annex, 14 feet by 10, at one side [ . . . ] There was some
evidence of a partition dividing it into two wards, 44 feet long,
20 feet wide, approximately [ . .. ].%

Another major religious institute instrumental in the establishment of
health care facilities during the early years of settlement was the Augus-
tinian Sisters of the Mercy of Jesus. Arriving from Dieppe, France, on
July 31, 1639, they settled at Quebec City and later in that same year
founded the Hotel-Dieu Hospital. This venerable institution went on to
provide active treatment to the sick for nearly three hundred years, until
in 1938, it was converted into a facility designed to house and care for
the elderly.*® Although dealt with later in this work, mention must be
given to the prominent role in the health care apostolate in the early
days of Canadian history exercised by the Religious Hospitallers of St.
Joseph.

In 1737, the first religious institute founded by a Canadian born woman,
Marguerite d’Youville,® took the title of the Sisters of Charity, or as
they became known, the “Grey Nuns.” Their apostolate from the very
outset was to live the spirit of the Gospel by caring for the sick, the poor
and the dying. The various branches of the Grey Nuns have been instru-
mental in founding health care facilities elsewhere in Quebec and
throughout Ontario and parts of Northern, Western and Eastern



Canada.®?

Shortly after the Grey Nuns were founded, the administration of the
General Hospital of Montreal (founded by the Charon Brothers 50 years
before) was entrusted to them. Like others before them, they were not to
be exempted from countless hardships and difficulties in carrying out
their apostolic work. Despite all the obstacles that faced them, whether
fire, financial woes, even differences with government authorities, the
“Grey Nuns” persisted and remained steadfast and faithful to their
original apostolate of caring for the sick.®

Throughout the country, various other religious institutes of women®
responded to the countless requests from local and missionary bishops to
establish health care facilities, ranging from hospitals, nursing homes
and clinics, to orphanages. Despite enormous challenges and setbacks,
these remarkable pioneers embarked wholeheartedly in carrying on this
integral part of the Church’s mission. Their faith, their courage, their
firm conviction in the dignity of the human person at all stages of life
have made them giants in the shaping of the health care system now in
place in Canada. They have for more than three hundred years laboured
to ensure that the essential health care apostolate continues to be exer-
cised in this time and place.



lll. EVOLUTION OF CATHOLIC HEALTH CARE IN THE
PROVINCE OF NEW BRUNSWICK

A. The Context

The Province of New Brunswick encompasses an area of some 73,497
sq. km. (28,354 sq. mi.) with a population of 738,133. Its heritage is
indeed a diverse one: Micmacs, Maliseets, Loyalists, Acadians, Irish,
Scots, Danes and German — each ethnic group contributing signifi-
cantly to the development of the Province. The industrial base of the
province lies in logging and forestry, mining, agriculture, fishing and
trapping, manufacturing and tourism, while the areas of communica-
tions, advanced technology, energy, aquaculture, computer software,
environmental engineering services and advanced forest products are
gaining in popularity. New Brunswick continues to be Canada’s only
officially bilingual province with a 35% French speaking population.
Religiously, 53% of the population are Roman Catholic, 40% Protes-
tant, 1% practice other religions, while 5% practice no religion.

Before the arrival of European settlers in the early years of the seven-
teenth century, the methods and medicines used in the treatment of
sickness and injury by the native peoples revolved around the medicine
man and a variety of natural products such as teas, herbs, splints, etc.
With the discovery and naming of the St. John River in 1604 by Samuel
de Champlain came the introduction of rudimentary medical practices
adopted from the continent and adapted somewhat to the new world
situation.®

At this time New Brunswick basically remained a land of trees with a
sparse population. It was not until the 1780s and the influx of the United
Empire Loyalists from the northern United States that the actual settle-
ment of New Brunswick took place.®” In 1784, by promulgation of
Royal Charter, New Brunswick was officially created a province.®® At
the time, small rural settlements whose economic base revolved around
farming, fishing and lumbering comprised most of the province. The
principal ethnic groups populating the province were mostly native
peoples (Micmac, Maliseet, and Algonquins), Acadians, and British
settlers, later followed by the Scots and Irish. Though rural in makeup,
population shifts did occur, thus allowing for the development of urban
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centres like Saint John and Fredericton. However, with the shift in
population also came increased problems, especially in terms of health
matters, caused by the spread of communicable diseases. To help in the
treatment and prevention of such epidemics, primitive means of health
care were employed and public health at the time amounted basically to
trying to meet any type of emergency that might arise.®

By the late seventeenth century the province began experiencing an
upsurge in the number of immigrants coming to settle, especially due to
the possibilities being offered in the lumber industry. With immigration
came also the rapid spread of such diseases as typhus, cholera and
smallpox.” The port city of Saint John, known for its ice-free harbour,
became the logical point of entry for thousands and as a result bore the
brunt of these epidemics. Poor sanitation, combined with an inadequate
public water supply system, further added to the rapid spread of infec-
tious diseases, throughout the city and the province.

To control the spread of epidemics, the Legislative Assembly in 1796
promulgated the first Public Health Act.” With this Act came the
introduction of the quarantine facility, an entity which remained familiar
in the province throughout much of the nineteenth century. However, the
quarantine facility was not to be the answer to the prevention of disease
in the province. In fact that which it was intended to prevent ended up
being the main cause of the spread of these infectious diseases.”

By 1833 the rampant spread of Asiatic cholera along with scarlet fever,
diphtheria and smallpox throughout the province, forced the govern-
ment to enact legislation thereby bringing into existence community
health boards. These boards were mandated to do whatever was neces-
sary to prevent the further spreading of disease. However, for the most
part they achieved little if anything and the end result saw them falling
into disuse.”

By the mid-nineteenth century, the city of Saint John was a bustling sea
port basking in a time of great prosperity. Shipbuilding and lumbering
drew lucrative contracts to the area, resulting in population growth and
increased wealth. However, the period also witnessed tremendous
inadequacies in terms of proper sanitation and public water supply.
These became a source for the spread of disease and sickness and which
could not be treated due to the lack of health care facilities.”



One event, etched in the minds and hearts of many, was the influx of
immigrants from Ireland. By 1847 some 17,000 poor, uneducated and
feeble Irish were forced to leave their native land because of the devas-
tating potato famine. Two options were available at the time: face
starvation and death, or, seek refuge elsewhere in the hopes of beginning
anew. Countless numbers frantically bought passage in search of a new
land, new freedom and security, and the possibility of a new life for
themselves and their family. However, Saint John at this time was a
Loyalist City, incorporated in 1783 by fleeing colonists loyal to the
Crown. These became successful in business, politics and other areas.
The Catholic population for the most part remained impoverished and
uneducated.”

In 1854, the most serious outbreak of cholera ever experienced in New
Brunswick took place. The result of an infectious disease transmitted by
bacteria in contaminated water supplies,’® it spread rapidly, especially in
the urban centres, causing hundreds of deaths in the City of Saint John
alone. The cholera epidemic caused a realignment of the local health
boards (in Saint John) as well as provoking calls for improvement in
public sanitation and water supply systems.

Before New Brunswick’s entry into Confederation in 1867, facilities
designed specially for the treatment and care of the sick were nearly
nonexistent. Almshouses doubled as a place of caring as well as provid-
ing some form of assistance to the poor, the destitute, the elderly, the
crippled, the mentally handicapped and the indigent sick.”” These primi-
tive institutions left much to be desired and soon came under suspicion
as the breeding grounds for the spread of diseases. In all reality, the
almshouse provided a bandaid approach to the provision of care and
attention to the sick.

The only facilities existing especially as hospitals in New Brunswick at
pre-Confederation time were the military and marine hospitals.” These
offered specialized health care to service personnel. With the continued
threat of infectious diseases, new institutions besides the quarantine
station had to be established, whether the ‘fever house’ in Saint John, or
those on the Miramichi.” Another institution that gained in popularity
around the same time in New Brunswick was the leper-colony, near
Chatham. D. Arbuckle writes of this:



Leprosy is a disease which causes skin lesions, nerve paralysis
and physical mutilation. Its spread in the northern counties of
Gloucester and Northumberland led to the establishment of a
lazaretto or house for diseased lepers, on Sheldrake Island in
1844. The mysterious disease was feared and misunderstood.
The local Board of Health, revived to deal with the emergency,
was convinced that the disease was caused by people heating
their houses in the winter with closed stoves instead of fire-
places, thus creating a tropical climate which bred infections.
The sick often fled into the woods to avoid isolation under
armed guards in the lazaretto. In 1849 the institution was moved
to Tracadie.®

Leprosy aided in bringing the Hospitallers to New Brunswick. By 1820,
this dreaded disease had been detected in the northeastern section of the
province, especially in Gloucester and Northumberland counties. In an
attempt to control the disease, the provincial government established a
facility whose sole purpose was to treat and prevent the spread of
leprosy. The lazaretto,?! located on Sheldrake Island, could
accommodate up to twenty patients and it was the only one in the whole
of Canada. By 1849, due to dissatisfaction with the location, authorities
arranged for its transfer down river to Tracadie. In 1868 Bishop James
Rogers,*? the Bishop of Chatham, requested assistance from the
Religious Hospitallers of Montreal.®* The sisters responded positively to
his request.

Catholic health care in New Brunswick owes its existence to the legacy
of four religious institutes of women.?* Their vision, faith, zeal and
commitment laid the foundation for the 130-year tradition of providing
care, concern and compassion to the sick, the orphan, the elderly, the
suffering and the dying. The next section of this work will give an
account of each individual religious institute and its contribution to
health care in the province.



B. The Religious Institutes

1. Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph

The involvement of the Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph with
Catholic health care in New Brunswick dates from 1868 and the arrival
from Montreal of sisters assigned to administer the leper colony at
Tracadie on the province’s Acadian Peninsula. Theirs has been a legacy
of faith and witness ever since in living out their vocation of providing
care and compassion to the sick, the suffering and the dying. The Reli-
gious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph have certainly had a direct impact on
health care delivery in New Brunswick for over a century and continue
this work to this very day. In order to appreciate their contribution, an
understanding of their history needs to be gained.

The year is 1630; the place, La Fléche in France and the centre of a
dream. Jérdme Le Royer de la Dauversiére, a resident of that city,
dreamed of founding a religious institute of women for a threefold
purpose: (1) to colonize and evangelize the New World, (2) to care for
the sick, and, (3) to establish a hospital to treat and care for settlers and
native peoples alike on the yet to be settled island of Montreal.® In 1636
a young Parisian priest, Father Jean Jacques Olier dreamed of founding
a seminary in the New World to provide adequate and suitable priests
for Montreal and surrounding areas.® These reported dreams of two
individuals unbeknownst to each other would have a long-lasting impact,
not only on the Island of Montreal but beyond. Another associate of La
Dauversiere, since 1634, Baron de Fancamp, also became involved in
these dreams and the three set about planning the groundwork for three
religious institutes for the New World — one to train priests, one to train
hospitallers, and one to train teaching sisters.*’

In 1636, La Dauversiere gathered a small group of women who came to
form the beginnings of the religious institute under the heavenly patron-
age of Saint Joseph. Their apostolate would be the colonization and
evangelization of the New World and the provision of care and treat-
ment for the sick and the poor.®® In the first Constitutions of the new
order, Jérome de la Dauversiére wrote the following concerning the
purpose of the Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph:

The Daughters of Saint Joseph will be persons entirely
consecrated to God to serve Him fervently in the exercise of the



spiritual life and in the practice of perfect charity towards their
neighbour, and especially dedicated to the service of Jesus
Christ in the person of the poor who are His members.

The spirit of this family is that of a holy liberty of the children
of God which makes the soul attentive to self, faithful to God,
pure in her life, simple in her intentions, gentle in her conversa-
tion, cordially united with her sisters, tenderly charitable to-
wards the sick poor, stable and unshaken in all circumstances
and events of her life and desirous about all to be pleasing to
God.®

To help in making La Dauversi¢re’s dream become a reality, Jeanne
Mance,” a laywoman of remarkable zeal and dedication accompanied
Paul de Chomedey, Sieur de Maisonneuve and his companions, arriving
and settling in Ville Marie in 1642. Her first concern and priority was
the establishment of a small facility to provide care and treatment for the
sick. Thus, she laid the foundation for what was to become a 350-year
tradition of caring for the sick, the suffering and the dying on the Island
of Montreal.

In 1653, Montreal witnessed the arrival of yet a second contingent of
settlers from France. This group would also settle and colonize the
island of Montreal. Among the group was a French lady from Troyes,
named Marguerite Bourgeoys.’! She quickly became an avid supporter
of Jeanne Mance and her apostolic work, providing great assistance,
especially in times of need, in the health care apostolate.” To this very
day a close bond continues to exist between the Sisters of the Congrega-
tion of Notre-Dame and the Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph.

By 1654, the small facility at Montreal began to outgrow its usefulness.
The need existed for a much newer and larger institution to carry on the
work of providing care to the sick. An undertaking of such immense
proportion would require substantial amounts of money and adequate
personnel to administer and staff the new facility. Faced with yet another
challenge, Mance, in 1658, travelled again to her native land in search
of funds and labour.”® She would not be disappointed. Finally her
prayers and years of perseverance proved successful. In 1659, permis-
sion was granted for three members of the Religious Hospitallers to go
to Montreal. On October 20, 1659, Mother Judith de Brésoles, Sister
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Marie Maillet and Sister Catherine Mace®* arrived at Montreal, “a city
of only 160 men, fifty families, one hundred new colonists, and about
fifty houses.”*

The Religious Hospitallers were not without their share of trials and
tribulations. They too encountered gruelling poverty, harsh winter
conditions, even fear of death from Indian attacks. As if this were not
enough, the sisters had to endure the forces of nature, especially the
earthquake of February 5, 1663, and the fires of 1696, 1721 and 1735.%
Despite all the hardships and difficulties inflicted upon them, they
remained firm in their devotion and dedication to the health care
apostolate.

By 1841, after nearly 182 years of service and enormous setbacks and
undertakings, the Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph were ready to
begin a new chapter in their distinguished history. They would expand
their apostolate beyond the island of Montreal. The first convent to open
outside Montreal was in Kingston, Ontario.

On July 16, 1869, again at the request of Bishop Rogers, Sister Louise
D’ Avignon, Sister Helen McGurty, Sister Beauchamp (Sr. St. Louis)
and Sister Vitaline, came to Chatham, NB and opened the first Hotel-
Dieu Hospital in the rectory built by Father John Sweeney, who would
succeed Bishop T.L. Connolly as Bishop of Saint John. Despite their
share of difficulties and a fire in 1878, the Religious Hospitallers have
continued to serve the sick throughout New Brunswick.’” In 1949 a new
challenge prompted the Religious Hospitallers to establish a facility to
care for the needs of the elderly citizens of the Miramichi region of New
Brunswick. As a result, St. Michael’s Academy, a girl’s boarding
school, was renovated and became Mount Saint Joseph nursing home,
with a new facility constructed in 1975.% The Religious Hospitallers
also have health care facilities in other regions of the province, both
hospitals and nursing homes. These include the Hotel-Dieu in Perth-
Andover,” Hotel-Dieu in St. Quentin,'® Hopital de I’Enfant-Jésus in
Caraquet,'”! and two nursing homes, Foyer St. Joseph at St. Basile,'”
and Foyer Notre-Dame de Lourdes at Bathurst.!®

2. Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception of Saint John
In 1852, Thomas Louis Connolly'* became the second bishop of Saint
John, succeeding Bishop William Dollard. The saintly and much re-
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spected churchman wasted no time in taking up the challenge that
awaited him as chief pastor. His first concern was what to do with so
many wretched individuals. Connolly travelled to New York City in a
vain attempt to seek the assistance of the Sisters of Charity, known for
their dedicated work of caring for the needy, the young, the sick and the
uneducated. Mother Jerome, the superior of the Sisters, decided to visit
Saint John to witness first hand the conditions of Bishop Connolly’s
cathedral city. Definitely moved by what she saw, on her return to New
York she wrote the following:

I certainly did try to interest the Council by every statement [
could think of to give Sisters to that mission, to have pity on the
poor children there going to destruction, although candidly, I did
not see who could be spared.'®

By 1854 the worst cholera epidemic in the history of the city broke out,
claiming many victims and leaving countless numbers of orphans. This
forced Bishop Connolly to make another urgent plea requesting the
assistance of the Sisters of Charity in New York. Again Connolly
received the disheartening news that the institute was still not able to
send professed sisters to the area. However, a silver lining in what
appeared to be a dark cloud of refusal and rejection shone forth. The
Superior and her council gave Bishop Connolly their consent to ap-
proach the Order’s novice members — perhaps some of them would be
interested in his dilemma. Prayer and perseverance were rewarded and,
in September 1854, a group of novices arrived at Saint John, thus
beginning a new chapter in the history of Catholicism in New
Brunswick.

From this small band of courageous and faith-filled young women,
Bishop Connolly founded the Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate
Conception of Saint John. The early members of the institute, namely,
Honoria Conway (Mother M. Vincent),'® Mary Routanne (Sr. M.
Frances), Mary Madden (Sr. M. Joseph), and Annie McCabe (Sr. M.
Stanislaus)'®” quickly set about caring for the needs of those mentioned
in the first Constitution approved by Bishop Connolly.!® Throughout the
city, the sisters soon began establishing houses. From the events of the
mid-nineteenth century combined with the vision of Thomas Connolly,
the groundwork was being laid for further apostolic endeavours by the



Sisters of Charity.

The beginning of the twentieth century witnessed a steady growth in the
membership of the small religious institute. As a result of this, the sisters
were now able to expand their horizons and establish missions elsewhere
in the Diocese of Saint John and even beyond the borders of New
Brunswick. In response to an appeal to care for orphans in Western
Canada the sisters journeyed to Saskatchewan. They soon endeared
themselves to those whom they served and won the admiration and
respect of the community of which they were part. By 1906 the Sisters
of Charity, after a request was made to entrust the local hospital to their
care, ventured out into another integral part of the Church’s mission —
the care of the sick. With the opening in 1910 of Holy Family Hospital
in Prince Albert,'” the long tradition of involvement in the health care
apostolate by the Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception was
taking root."'° This would subsequently be followed by the opening of
the Saint John Infirmary in 1914, later to become St. Joseph’s Hospital.
The hospital and the facility caring for the elderly were to form the nucleus
of Catholic involvement in health care in the City of Saint John.'!

3. Les Soeurs de Notre- Dame de Sacré-Coeur

Les Soeurs Notre Dame du Sacré-Coeur were officially founded in 1924
when fifty-three Acadian members of the Sisters of Charity of the
Immaculate Conception of Saint John broke away to live in a French
community under basically the same rule as that intended in 1854 by
Bishop Connolly. Previous attempts in 1871 and again in 1914 to
establish a separate community failed to receive permission from the
General Superior or the Sacred Congregation of Religious. However, in
1922/23, Sister Marie-Anne (Suzanne Cyr), an instrumental figure in
the new institute, received a reply to yet another request. Mother
Alphonse, then General Superior of the Sisters of Charity, suggested a
complete break allowing for the creation of the new religious institute.
Formal permission was granted on February 8, 1924, with the founda-
tion taking place on February 17,1924. It was also on this date that the
first General Chapter was held and the election of a General Superior
took place.

The newly established religious institute grew rapidly and quickly
embraced the apostolates of education and health care. Membership in
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the community reached 500 in the 1960s and witnessed expansion to
Louisiana, Peru, Japan, Columbia, and Haiti as well as other Maritime
centres. Today members of Les Soeurs de Notre-Dame du Sacré Coeur
are found mainly in New Brunswick and Nova Scotia. They continue
their foreign mission in Haiti.

Faithful to the invitation and challenge of Vatican II to re-assess and re-
examine religious life at the end of the 20th century, the sisters ex-
panded and adapted their apostolates to respond to the needs of those
whom they serve. Despite all of this, Les Soeurs de Notre-Dame du
Sacré-Coeur continue to exercise their original educational and health
care apostolates.''?

4. La Congrégation des Filles de Jésus

Les Filles de Jésus trace their origins to the Britanny region of France
towards the end of the eighteenth century. The French Revolution
marred this period in French history causing much hardship on the
general populace. Many suffered from lack of basic health care and
educational skills. The hardest hit were the poor residing in the rural
areas of the country. Despite the hardships and difficulties encountered,
the people remained steadfast and loyal to Catholicism. The Church
responded to the needs of the people as best it could, at least on the
parish level. Basic education and various other forms of social assist-
ance were given in an attempt to alleviate the situation.

A local parish priest, Father Pierre Noury,'® conceived the idea of a

religious institute of women, dedicated to apostolic work among the poor
and needy. In 1834, Les Filles de Jésus began with only five women
professing vows and dedicating themselves to lives of service.''* Under
its first foundress, Perrine Samson,''> the institute flourished and en-
gaged in education, the care of the sick, orphans and the elderly; it also
offered assistance in whatever capacity the Sisters were needed. By
1884, Les Filles de Jésus grew to some five hundred members, spread
out in more than 100 areas of Britanny. They soon won the admiration
and respect of all those whom they served.

Les Filles de Jésus came to Canada in 1902, welcomed by bishops eager
to have the sisters serve in various apostolates, but especially in educa-
tion and health care. Religious houses soon opened in Alberta, Quebec,
Nova Scotia and New Brunswick.!"® Eager to share the life and spirit of
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the Filles de Jésus, Canadian women soon joined the institute and with
zeal committed themselves to lives of service.

Remaining faithful to the dreams of Father Noury and the mission
entrusted them by their foundress, Perrine Samson, the Filles de Jésus
number more than 2,000 members today and can also be found in
Africa, the West Indies, Honduras, Columbia and Chile. Seven hundred
members alone can be found in Canada. ''7 In an article on the charism
of the institute in health care institutions it is stated:

From the very beginnings of our congregation, the Filles de
Jésus were called to care for the sick and the poor. [...] This has
been a tall order to fill and certainly the Sisters needed the
support of everyone they were ministering to — the sick and
the aged, yes, but also all people with whom they worked.

From the beginning the Sisters were conscious that their institu-
tions were an extension of the Church. Catholic health institu-
tions have arisen over the centuries in response to Jesus’ call to
heal and care compassionately for people. The Church’s mission
to proclaim the reign of God and to set people free from sick-
ness, sin, evil and death is a direct mandate given by Jesus. (Mt.
10:8).1"8

C. Health Care in New Brunswick

Economic growth and prosperity marked the period following New
Brunswick’s entry into Confederation. The shipbuilding and lumbering
industries witnessed unprecedented success. With this success came the
long-awaited improvements to the health care delivered in the province.
Instead of just providing basic and rudimentary health care, actual
facilities in which the sick could be treated and cared for began gaining
popularity.'"?

Much needed reform of the social welfare network in Canada was also
being called for during this period. In New Brunswick, restructuring
meant updating medical procedures and knowledge, upgrading equipment
and enhancing sanitary conditions. The port city of Saint John, with the
largest urban population would realize the most benefits due to reform
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of the health system. It was in 1865 at Saint John that the first public
hospital in the province opened its doors, thus paving the way for more
hospital construction.!'?

Post-Confederation New Brunswick was marked by yet another signifi-
cant development in the provincial health care system: the professional
nurse. Again the dedication and professionalism of the religious insti-
tutes assumed an instrumental role in this regard. Nursing schools,
operated by the Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph, the Sisters of
Charity and the Sisters of Providence produced some of the best nursing
personnel in the province and have had a profound effect on the health
care system to this very day.

Under the terms of the British North America Act in 1867'*! health care
was assigned to the jurisdiction of the provincial government. All
facilities, their establishment and their administration came under
provincial domain, though until the end of World War I, municipalities
were the primary agents responsible for providing health care.!??

The Public Health Act of 1875 legislated in Britain influenced to a great
extent New Brunswick’s Public Health Act passed in 1887.!> This Act
provided for the creation of a Provincial Board of Health. Under this
Board, health districts were established under a local Board of Health,
with responsibilities ranging from conducting investigations and making
recommendations regarding public sanitation to controlling contagious
diseases. However, this system fell into disarray in many locales with
the exception of the Saint John Board of Health. This Board continued
to be instrumental in putting forth recommendations regarding health
care reform. It was due to its influence that in 1918 the Department of
Health was created as a separate portfolio of the provincial govern-
ment.'?*

Health care and how it was delivered became issues of vital importance,
not only in New Brunswick, but also throughout the nation. The years
immediately following World War I brought about calls from many
sectors for social reform, chief of which was the reform of the public
health system. With the creation of the health ministry in New Bruns-
wick, a new Public Health Act was promulgated in 1918. This Act
brought about the establishment of three health districts: Newcastle,
Fredericton and Saint John. Each district came under the vigilance of a
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District Medical Health Officer. In turn, these health districts were
further divided into subdistricts, with special emphasis placed in the
appointment of a medical inspector for schools. Between New Bruns-
wick’s entry into Confederation and the end of World War I, “public
health in New Brunswick evolved from a decentralized, poorly adminis-
tered, inefficient system into a centralized provincial Department of
Health. A new era in the province’s health care system was launched
with the creation of this department.”'?

The years following the end of World War I could be described as the
beginning of the so-called welfare state. The disruption in social services
caused by the war, combined with the effects of the Great Depression,
led to new demands for reform. Health care would be no exception. This
period could even be described as the “boom years” for health care
facilities in New Brunswick.'?¢

Escalating costs in the delivery of quality health care was leading to
greater federal government intervention in what was a provincial juris-
diction. In this particular period, the stage was being set for discussions
regarding the feasibility of a “comprehensive and universal health
insurance program.”!?’ Prevention was the key word in this period and
immunization programs for school children, hygiene, and school inspec-
tions were introduced. By the 1930s the position of the public health
nurse became an essential part of the health care system in the province,
with duties ranging from infant care to tuberculosis follow up.

Marked improvement in sanitation, public water supplies and the estab-
lishment of dental clinics dominated the period following the war. A
reorganization of provincial health districts also took place at this time.
Five health districts were to be created coming under the authority of a
District Medical Health Officer. Further reorganization in the Depart-
ment of Health was now leading to more government involvement in
health care delivery. For example, the public health nurse no longer
came under the authority of the local Board of Health, but under the
provincial Department of Health. This meant medical inspection of
schools was also placed under the Department’s jurisdiction.

By the 1940s new concerns began to emerge especially regarding the
rising number of polio victims in the province. As a result, rehabilitation
programs, free vaccination programs and government take over of
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tuberculosis hospitals were initiated by the provincial Department of
Health. With the introduction of the National Health Grants in 1948 by
the federal government, further expansion of provincial health care
facilities, especially hospitals, soon became a reality in New
Brunswick.

By 1949 New Brunswick had 49 hospitals, including several
tuberculosis facilities, scattered throughout the province. The
major problem was that most hospitals had developed to meet
the needs of specific communities, resulting in a lack of coop-
eration and coordination between the institutions. There was
also a lack of proper standardization, and since many of the
hospitals only had a small number of beds, the overall system
was inefficient.'?®

The Depression years caused much havoc and uncertainty in all areas of
life, including health care delivery. In an attempt to stimulate confidence
and growth, the federal government proposed, among other things, the
creation of a national health insurance program.'?* The proposal met
with considerable opposition, especially in political circles and resulted
in a Supreme Court decision in 1945 ruling the proposal unconstitu-
tional. The Court reiterated that health care came under the jurisdiction
of provincial governments and that the federal government was going
beyond its competency as outlined in the BNA Act of 1867.

What resulted was the creation of the famous Rowell-Sirois Commission
on Dominion-Provincial Relations, the introduction of the National
Health Grants, and a system of equalization payments by the federal
government to its provincial counterparts to offset the rising costs of
providing quality health care. These payments helped “to transfer wealth
throughout the country, with the aim of establishing a minimum level of
basic service to Canadians. The federal health grant provided money for
hospital construction, training of more personnel, and improvements in
public health services.”!*

The National Health Grants of 1948 brought about increased activity in
the delivery of quality health care in New Brunswick. Another significant
factor in the system was the adoption in 1959 of a federal-provincial
cost-sharing agreement for hospital insurance. First introduced in 1956,
the agreement lead to the implementation in 1971 of the national and
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universal Medicare program. This program was to have immense
repercussions on the way health care would be delivered throughout the
country.'!

The centennial year of Confederation, 1967, brought forth another
massive change in New Brunswick. Then Liberal Premier Louis J.
Robichaud introduced his plan for “Equal Opportunity.”*? The intro-
duction of the Equal Opportunity program, the adoption of Medicare
and the financial commitment by the federal government in the form of
equalization payments, created an extensive and complex system of
health care in the province. By the 1970s and 1980s, the economic
recession and government restraints, the continuation of high costs and
at times, inefficient health care delivery, were creating cracks in the
system.

The federal government through the National Health Grants of 1948
put in place the necessary financial resources for the continued construc-
tion of health care facilities, especially hospitals, in New

Brunswick. It was during the years 1948 to 1965 that existing Catholic
health care facilities in the province were greatly improved and ex-
panded and new facilities built.

In 1951, the provincial Department of Health conducted a survey
proposing the regionalization of the health care system by dividing the
province into a series of regions. Five health regions were proposed,
with a large regional hospital, surrounded by satellite hospitals and
clinics. The proposal remained just that. It never got off the ground.
However, some forty years later this scheme, with modifications, would
be adopted by the provincial government. So the groundwork for reform
of the health care system in New Brunswick was being prepared as early
as the 1950s.

Another further study was conducted in 1970 regarding the existing
health care facilities in the province. This became known as the
Llewelyn-Davis Report and proved very critical of what was occurring
in the New Brunswick health care system.'** Changes were also
occurring in the Medicare program. By 1977 federal government contri-
butions made to the province were reduced. As a result the provincial
government implemented hospital user fees; however, these were short-
lived due to massive protests in every sector of the province.
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By the close of the 1970s it was becoming apparent that changes were
needed and the health care system in New Brunswick overhauled. In
1978, yet another proposal was on the table. This plan proposed six
regions with hospitals being divided into regional, district and commu-
nity facilities. Through all these happenings one thing remains obvious:
health care facilities, especially hospitals, gradually evolved from single
independent facilities into a complex network of integrated services. '3

During the 1980s another proposal regarding the revamping of the
health care system in the province was presented to government and
other interested parties. However, it was not until the early 1990s that
drastic changes actually occurred in the health care system, changes
that would affect the mission of the Catholic Church in providing care
to the sick. Despite some negative aspects such as the depersonalization
of treatment, health care in New Brunswick has seen many advances in
200 years of history. Initially, the system was very haphazard with no
scientific standards. Some patients received proper treatment, while
others did not. Due to increased interest in public health resulting from
advances in knowledge and more financial input by the federal and
provincial governments, health care in New Brunswick has evolved into
auniversal public system in which all individuals have equal access to
care.'?
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CONCLUSION

This work has examined the long association of the Catholic Church in
the health care apostolate. From its very beginnings, the Church has
aligned itself with sick and suffering humanity. By establishing health
care facilities, the various religious institutes especially have put a real
and tangible face on the command of Christ to heal the sick.

More specifically, we have examined the presence and foundation of
health care facilities in Canada and the Province of New Brunswick.
Despite challenges and difficulties of one kind or another, the religious
institutes down through the years continued to offer care, compassion
and quality health care to those seeking their assistance. They have
played a vital role in making health care effective and efficient. They
have actualized the gospel and made health care an integral part of their
apostolic mission. Without their significant contribution and determina-
tion, New Brunswick, indeed Canada itself, would be the poorer in
terms of quality health care facilities.
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HEenNessEY, Honoria Conway.: Woman of Promise, Foundress of the
Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception, Saint John, NB, 1985,
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SISTERS OF CHARITY OF THE IMMACULATE CONCEPTION, SAINT JOHN, NB,

Rules for the Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception, Saint
John, New Brunswick, 1854, 1st leaf : “They must be in an especial
manner devoted to the care of the orphan, the instruction of the poor,
and the attendance of the sick, even at the sacrifice of life itself.” Cf.
SISTERS OF CHARITY OF THE IMMACULATE CONCEPTION, Saint John, NB,
Constitutions of the Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception,
Saint John, NB [Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception], 1983,
on p. 13, “As Sisters of Charity of the Immaculate Conception, an
apostolic religious institute of pontifical right founded in 1854, we are
called to be with Christ and we are sent to serve the needs of his Church.
By means of a variety of ministries which traditionally include the
apostolates of Christian education, health care, and social services, we
adapt to the needs of time and place in a spirit of faith, charity, simplic-
ity and availability. In this way, we strive to be true to the charism of our
Foundress, Honoria Conway and to the spirit of our ecclesiastical
sponsor, Thomas Louis Connolly.”
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St. JosepH’s HospiTaL, 75 Years of Caring, p. 1.
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John, NB, was “founded in 1914 and owned by the Sisters of Charity of
the Immaculate Conception. Services at the 123 bed facility include
anaesthesia, internal medicine, orthopaedics, ophthalmology, otolaryn-
gology, radiology, urology, family medicine, general surgery, pathology,
and outpatient/emergency departments. Also the facility has a day care
surgery unit and a diagnostic hostel. St. Joseph’s is associated with
Dalhousie University Medical School and also provides experience for
nursing and nursing assistant students from the Saint John School of
Nursing.” On April 1,1992, the administration of this facility was
involuntarily transferred to the Region 2 Hospital Corporation. The
directory on p. 112 describes the Rocmaura Nursing Home in Saint
John, NB, as “a 150 bed nursing home owned by the Sisters of Charity
of the Immaculate Conception and operated by the sisters and lay staff.”
The Sisters began caring for the aged in 1888 at the old Mater
Misericordiac Home on Sydney St., built by the Diocese of Saint John. In
1958 residents of the home relocated to the former orphanage on Water-
loo St. Outgrowing its space, the Sisters made plans to construct a new
facility and on December 16, 1972, Rocmaura opened to serve the
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elderly in need of nursing care. Basic Christian values dictate the spirit
of the home so that the dignity and individuality of each resident is
respected. The home strives to bring health and healing in an atmos-
phere which respects and affirms the sacredness of human life.”

CHAC, Directory, on p. 108 describes L’Hopital Stella-Maris-de-Kent at
Ste-Anne-de-Kent as follows: “Founded in 1964 and owned by the
Religieuses de Notre-Dame du Sacré-Coeur. The facility serves a rural
area, in the Northeast section of New Brunswick whose population is
mainly Roman Catholic and French speaking. The facility provides basic
health care services and has 45 beds.” On April 1, 1992, administration
of this facility was involuntarily transferred to Region 1 Hospital
Corporation.

A. TrRoTTIER and J. FOURNIER, Les Filles de Jésus en Amérique,
Charlesbourg, Impr. Le Renouveau Inc., 1986, p. 17.

In the Constitution of Les Filles de Jésus of 1834 the following is found:
“The goal set forth for the Congregation is to honor the Humanity of the
Son of God by imitating His virtues, especially the virtue of charity and
to take care of the sick and the aged.”

TroTTIER and FOURNIER, Les Filles de Jésus en Amérique, pp. 19-21.

CHAC, Directory, on p. 107 describes L’Hopital St. Joseph de
Dalhousie, Dalhousie, NB, as “an active treatment hospital founded in
1948 by the Religious Hospitallers of Saint Joseph and now owned by
Les Filles de Jésus, it serves the needs of people residing in East
Restigouche County in Northern New Brunswick. Services include:
medicine, surgery, pediatrics, emergency department, pastoral care,
diagnostic and therapeutic departments as well as outpatient services.”
On April 1, 1992, administration of this facility was transferred involun-
tarily to the Region 5 Hospital Corporation.

TroTTIER and FOURNIER, Les Filles de Jésus en Amérique, p. 4.

E. Boupreau, “The Charism of the Congregation in our Health Care
Institutions,” pp. 3.1-3.2. This was from a paper given at Moncton, NB,
by Sister Boudreau on April 4, 1982 to a meeting of the Administrative
Staffs of the hospitals and homes of Les Filles de Jésus.

NEw BrUNswicK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick, p. 6.

Ibid., continues on p. 6 by stating: “Between 1867 and 1900 six other
general hospitals opened in Chatham (1869), St. Basile (1873),
Fredericton (1888), Moncton (1895), Campbellton and Tracadie. The
Salvation Army Evangeline Maternity Hospital opened in Saint John in
1889. Between 1900 and 1914 four more hospitals were opened at St.
Stephen, Woodstock, Grand Falls and Bathurst. Two tuberculosis hospi-
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tals also opened during this period near Moncton (1913) and in Saint
John (1915). In addition, separate and specialized institutions still
existed such as marine, military and mental health hospitals.”

Ibid., on p. 7 states that: “Under the 1867 British North America Act,
the provision of health care service was acknowledged as primarily a
provincial responsibility. The federal government was given control of
quarantine and of the establishment and maintenance of marine hospi-
tals, while the provinces were given control of the establishment,
maintenance, and management of hospitals and asylums.”

Ibid.
S.N.B., Public Health Act , 50 Victoria, 1878, ¢ 3.

The Department of Health was created in 1918. This was to be the first
Ministry of Health in the whole British Empire.

NEw BruNswick DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick, p. 9.

Ibid., on p. 9 states that: “Following the war, hospitals began to expand
rapidly, becoming the major centres for treatment due to advances in
medical science and knowledge. During this period more emphasis was
placed on preventive measures, and in response to demands for an
expansion of services, new programs began to develop.”

Ibid.

NEw BrUNSWICK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick, p. 11. Also, NEw BRUNSWICK DEPARTMENT OF
HEeALTH, Province of New Brunswick Report of Health Survey Committee
1951, p. 57.

Ibid., p. 12.
Ibid
. Ibid,, states on p. 12. “Although medicare was to be jointly financed by

the federal and provincial governments, enormous financial demands
were still placed on the New Brunswick government to guarantee
minimum services to all citizens. The high costs of providing not only
health but other social welfare services as well, created serious problems
for the New Brunswick government.”

NEw Brunswick DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick, continues on p. 12. “This program was de-
signed to ensure the provision of at least minimum standards of public
services on an equal basis throughout the province. Equal opportunity
had a major impact on medical service in New Brunswick. It restruc
tured the provincial health care system and emphasized greater effi-
ciency. This program was followed in 1971 with the province’s entry
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into the national medicare plan.” On p. 14 it is stated: “The major
impact of Equal Opportunity in the field of health was that local boards
of health were abolished and the Department of Health assumed their
duties. The Department was entrusted with financial responsibility for
providing public health services directly throughout the province with
the aim of ensuring basic standards of care for all residents. With the
abolition of local boards of health in 1967, local health services were
integrated into five health regions designated A-E, each centered on the
major urban centres within the province. The plan was to provide a more
efficient and coordinated system of care which permitted equity of
services for all citizens.” See also L. J. RoBicHAUD, 4 Program for
Equal Opportunity, Fredericton, NB, Province of New Brunswick, 1965,
p. 7, and NEw BrRUNSwICK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, Annual Report, 1967,
p. 238.

NEw Brunswick DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, Study of Health Facilities in the
Province of New Brunswick, Ottawa, Llewelyn-Davis, 1970, p. 1. It is
stated there: “Previous lack of overall coordinated planning has resulted
in most communities having their own hospital. While this might appear
to accord with the policy of equal opportunity ... it must be emphasized
that parity of access to hospital buildings does not necessarily equate
with parity of access to hospital services of high quality ... provision of
numerous small hospitals can delete the quality of care considerably.”
NEw BRUNSWICK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick , states on p. 15: “The study concluded that for
reasons of both quality and economy, hospital services should be concen-
trated and coordinated within the framework of a regional program, with
specialized services grouped together in one place. Under the system in
use in 1970, New Brunswick had thirty-eight hospitals with varying
standards in the quality of care. Hospitals were too widely scattered and
many were too small to provide efficient service. The 1970 study sug-
gested more integration through regional development based on five
regions with hospitals at regional, district, and community levels.”

NEw BRUNSWICK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick, on p. 15 states: “Between 1950 and 1984,
hospitals came into more popular, widespread use and became highly
technological organizations with the introduction of modern new equip-
ment such as cat scans and the development of new branches such as
nuclear medicine.”

NEw BRUNSWICK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, Health
Care in New Brunswick, p. 15.
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